
 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, 01254 380109 
Email: Michael.cunliffe@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 6 March 2019 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Thursday, 14 March 2019 at 3.00 pm, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Noordad Aziz (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Jenny Molineux (Vice Chair), Lisa Allen, Jean Battle, Stephen Button, Terry Hurn, 
Tim O'Kane and Paddy Short 
 
Co-Optees: Ian Ormerod, Paul Barton and Bernard Dawson 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

2.   Minutes of Last Meeting(s)  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
To submit the Minutes of the meeting of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on the 12th February 2019 and the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny (Call in) Committee held on the 4th March 2019 for 
approval as a correct record. 
 

3.   ICT Report on outcomes of Previous Scrutiny Recommendations (12 October 2016)  
(Pages 13 - 16) 
 
 

4.   Hyndburn Leisure Trust  (Pages 17 - 22) 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2 

 

5.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended   - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting during the following item, when it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within Paragraph 4 at Schedule 12A of the 
Act specified at the item. 
 

 

6.   Land & Asset Disposals  (Pages 23 - 28) 
 
 

 
 



 
1 

 
RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 12th February, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Jenny Molineux (in the Chair),  

Councillors Noordad Aziz, Lisa Allen, Jean Battle, Stephen Button, 
Terry Hurn and Tim O'Kane 
Co-optees: Bernard Dawson 
 

In Attendance: Councillor Tony Dobson, Leader of the Conservative Group 
Councillor Miles Parkinson, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources 
Councillor: June Harrison 
 

 Two members of the Public, Mr N. Collingridge & Ms K. Whitehead and 
two member of the media. 
 

 
302 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
It was reported that Councillor Noordad Aziz would be attending after the meeting had 
started due to a personal appointment. 
 
There were no substitute representatives. 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

303 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on the 1st November 
2018 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct  

record. 
 

304 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/22 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) submitted a report giving 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Position for 2019/20 to 2021/22.  The Strategy was 
attached to the report and set out the three year projections of income and spending for the 
Council ahead of formulating its savings plans so it could set an Annual Budget for 2019/20.   
 
Appendix 1 of the Strategy set out a standard model and further scenarios were provided in 
Appendix 2 with a pessimistic model and Appendix 3 detailing an optimistic model, all for 
2019/20 and 2021/22. 
The figures in Appendix 1 however remained the current best estimate of the likely financial 
position over the next three years.  The report addressed the following aspects and had 
been submitted to Cabinet on 6th February 2019:- 
 

 Introduction 

 Objectives 

 Elements of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
 

 Service Planning to Support Overall Strategy 

 Integrated Resource Planning with Service Plans 

 Background Information 

 Financial Analysis 2019/20 to 2021/22 

 Resources 

 Government Grant 

 Business Rates 

 Council Tax 

 Expected loss of income 

 Changes in Costs 

 Growth 

 Reserves 

 Other Assumptions 

 Equality Impact Assessment 

 Scenarios 

 Robustness of Forecast 

 Overall Net Position 
 
A number of responses were provided by Councillor Joyce Plummer to the advanced  
questions submitted, which included: 

 

 Our MTFS is a 3 year strategy. Some Council’s operate a 5 year strategy. Would 
there be any benefits to moving to a 5 year strategy? 

 With regards to the 75% business rates pilot: 
- When will we know if the application is successful? 
- How much extra income is this predicted to bring in? 
- Are there any plans for how the increased income will be spent? 

With regards to the 75% business rates pilot: 

 Universal credit – can you explain the reasoning behind the potential increased 
£80k deficit in the pessimistic scenario (as detailed on page 33). 

 There was an article regarding district councils receiving grants of £35k to prepare 
for a no deal brexit. How does Hyndburn plan to spend this? 

 
A member of the public present at the meeting asked would the Council need to use money 
from reserves. The Leader of the Council responded and this would be the worst case 
scenario.  
 
Resolved - That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

305 Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management & Investment Strategy 2019/2020 to 
2021/2022 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Resources submitted a report setting out the Council’s policy and 
objectives with respect to treasury management, to explain how it would achieve its 
objectives and manage its activities and to agree an investment strategy for 2019/20.   
 
The report detailed the minimum revenue provision policy statement 2019/20, the treasury 
management policy statement 2019/20 with appendix 3 containing the HBC Treasury 
Management Practices 2019/20. 
 
A response was provided by Councillor Joyce Plummer to the advanced question  
submitted, which asked: 
 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
 

 You will be aware that Scrutiny have currently established a panel to carry out a 
green review. With this in mind, does the Council prioritise green or ethical 
investments in its investment strategy? If not, would this be a policy the Council 
would consider adopting? 

 
The report addressed the following aspects and had been submitted to Cabinet on 6th 
February 2019:- 
 

 Prudential Code and Prudential Indicators 

 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing Requirement 

 Estimated Capital Expenditure 

 Minimum Revenue Provision 

 Affordability Prudential Indicators 

 Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 – 2021/22 

 External Debt Overall Limits 

 External v Internal Borrowing 

 Limits on Activity 

 Debt Rescheduling 

 Investment Strategy 

 Treasury Management Practices (TMP) 

 Policy on the Use of External Service Providers 

 Treasury Management Strategy In-Year and Year End Reporting 
 
Resolved - That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

306 General Revenue Budget 2019/20 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Resources submitted a report setting out proposals for the 2019/20 
General Fund Revenue Budget which also provided an overview of key issues which had 
arisen from the Medium Term Financial Strategy.   
 
The 2019/20 Revenue Budget required a net expenditure of £10,995,000 under the budget 
proposals detailed in appendices 1 and 2 of the report. 
 
Council Tax for Hyndburn residents would rise for Hyndburn Council provided services by 
£5.00 per year for a Band D property.  Altham Parish Council had set a separate precept for 
its activities and there was no increase on its charge. 
 
The following information was attached to the report, which had been submitted to Cabinet 
on 6th February 2019:-   

 Appendix 1  -  Initial Outline Budget 2019/20 

 Appendix 2  -  Revenue Budget 2019/20 

 Appendix 3  -  Savings Proposals 2019/20 

 Appendix 4  -  Hyndburn Borough Council Tax Increase 2019/20 by Property Band 

 Appendix 5  -  Overall Change in Council Tax 2019/20 

 Appendix 6  -  Altham Parish Precept 2019/20 by Property Valuation Band 
 
A number of responses were provided by Councillor Joyce Plummer to the advanced  
questions submitted, which included: 
 

 How does our proposed Council tax increase compare with other Councils? 

 How much additional income could we generate if we increased council tax by the 
maximum allowed? 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
 

 With regards to the new homes bonus, are there any plans to look at small 
developers developing small sites rather than focus on large scale developments 
only? 

 
The following questions related to individual savings items identified in Appendix 3 and  
responses were given to the issues raised by the Committee: 
 

 Have any savings been identified through reduced cleansing costs as a direct result 
of the new recycling system? 

 Appendix 3 shows the proposed savings. Can you provide the actual previous 
budget and proposed new budget for each line on appendix 3? 

 Additional income has been identified through crematorium and commercial 
services in waste services? Can you provide more info on this and is there potential 
for increased income generation across other areas of the Council? 

 
Questions were also asked from members of the public in attendance at the meeting 
in relation to: 
 

 Savings on street sweepers with no agency staff working. 

 Are we still subsidising Hyndburn Leisure. 
 
Resolved - That the contents of the report be noted and supported. 
 

307 General Fund Capital Programme 2019/20 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Resources submitted a report relating to the Council’s capital 
investment priorities for 2019/20 and asked Cabinet on the 6th February 2019 to 
recommend to the Council a capital programme for approval at its meeting on 21st February 
2019, having regard to key linkages between the management of the Council’s capital and 
revenue resources.   
 
A Capital Programme for 2019/20 of £2,070,128 gross was attached to the report in 
Appendix 1.   
 
Responses were given to the following questions raised by the Committee:-  
 

 £35,000 has been allocated for a CCTV upgrade. Is this investment wise when it 
seems the police have limited resources to act upon intelligence from CCTV for 
many crimes? 

 With regards to DFGs, this committee carried out a review approximately 18 months 
ago, and it was found that a lack of Occupational Therapists at LCC was a major 
issue in holding up the award of grants. Is this still an issue, and if so, are claimants 
obligated to use LCC Occupational Therapists for assessments or are there other 
options? 

 Money has been allocated for Broadway resurfacing, and in last year’s capital 
budget there was further significant investment in Accrington Town Centre. Are 
there plans for future capital programme investment in other Town Centres such as 
Union Road in Oswaldtwistle, Queen Street in Great Harwood and High Street in 
Rishton? 

 Several thousand is allocated to Christmas decorations/lights each year. Has the 
Council considered seeking sponsorship from local business for Christmas lights? 

 
Questions were also asked from members of the public in attendance at the meeting  
in relation to: 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 Buildings not in a good state of repair (Clayton Civic Hall) 

 Mercer Park Capital investment was made via the Friends of Mercer Park Group 
and not just HBC funding. 

 
Resolved - (1) That the contents of the report be noted and 

supported, and:- 
 
 - (2) That the Committee recommends the establishment 

of a Cross Party Working Group to look at resolving any 
issues associated with the Disabled Facility Grants 
Process 

 
308 Opposition Group- Budget Proposals 2019-20 

 
The Leader of the Opposition (Conservative Group), Councillor Tony Dobson reported that 
no alternative proposals for the Council’s 2019/20 Budget would be submitted. 
 
He would continue to work with the controlling group and one idea was for street sweepers 
to spray weed killer rather than wait for the service provided by LCC which only occurred 
twice a year.  
 
Resolved - That no budget proposals to the Committee by the 

Opposition (Conservative) Group be noted and the 
Leader of the Conservative Group be thanked for his 
contribution to the discussions of the Committee. 

 
309 The Leader of the Council to receive Representations and Questions from Members 

of the Public and Individual Members of the Council on the Budget 
 
Members of the Public had been invited to attend the meeting to hear about budget 
proposals and to ask questions about the budget if they so wished.  Two residents were in 
attendance and a number of questions had been asked during the relevant agenda item. 
The Leader of the Council had responded with information to the issues raised during each 
item of the meeting. 
 

310 Summary of Overview and Scrutiny Comments and Resolutions to be presented to 
Council 
 
The Chair referred to the need to submit a summary of the discussions held and decisions 
reached during the meeting of the Committee to full Council on the 21st February 2019. 

Resolved - That Council be requested to note the following 
resolutions of the Committee:- 

  (1) That the contents of the following reports be 
noted:- 

  -Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/22 

  -Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management & 
Investment Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/22 

  -General Fund Revenue Budget 2019/20 

  -General Fund Capital Programme 2019/20 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
 

  (2) That the Committee thanks the Leader of the 
Council, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Leader of 
the Opposition for their participation in the scrutiny 
meeting and debate. 

  (3) That the HBC Deputy Chief Executive and all other 
Officers involved, be commended for their work in 
producing the budget. 

  (4) That the Committee recommends the 
establishment of a Cross Party Working Group to look 
at resolving any issues associated with the Disabled 
Facility Grants Process. 

  (5) That having reviewed and debated the budget 
submitted, the contents of the revenue and capital 
budget reports be supported as outlined. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 8



 
 

 
RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Monday, 4th March, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Noordad Aziz (in the Chair),  

Councillors Lisa Allen, Jean Battle, Sara Britcliffe, Stewart Eaves, 
Tim O'Kane and Dave Parkins 
Co-optees: Lisa Allen, Jean Battle, Sara Britcliffe, Stewart Eaves, 
Tim O'Kane and Dave Parkins 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Loraine Cox, Paul Cox and Joyce Plummer 

  

Apologies: Councillors Stephen Button, Terry Hurn and Jenny Molineux 
 

 
324 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors Stephen Button, Terry Hurn and 
Jenny Molineux. 
 
Councillors Dave Parkins, Sara Britcliffe and Stewart Eaves attended the meeting as 
substitute representatives for Councillors Button, Hurn and J. Molineux.  
 
The Chair reported information for Members awareness rather than a declaration of 
interest, as he worked for Irwell Valley Housing Association in Manchester. He had spoken 
to the Chief Executive of the organisation and had been given verbal assurances that they 
were not interested in the Clayton Triangle site nor any other location in Hyndburn.  
 
Councillor Dave Parkins commented that he was a tenant of Onward Homes although there 
was no mention of them in the report attached to the agenda.  
 

325 Call-In Procedure Note 
 
The Procedure to be followed at the meeting in relation to call-ins was submitted and 
attention was drawn to Paragraph 8 which set out the options available to the Committee 
when reaching a decision on the undermentioned call-in. 
 
Resolved - That the Procedure be received and applied to the  

undermentioned call-in. 
 

326 Exclusion of the Public 
 
Resolved   - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4)  Local  

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was likely, in 
view of the nature of the proceedings that there would 
otherwise be disclosure of exempt information within the 
Paragraph at Schedule 12A of the Act specified at the 
item. 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
 

327 Call-In of Cabinet Decision - Proposed Disposal of the Council's Land Known as 
Clayton Triangle 
 
The Chair informed the Committee that the purpose of the meeting was to consider a 
recommendation arising from the meeting of the Cabinet held on the 6th February 2019, 
when it had been resolved:- 
 
(1) That the recommendations as set out in the exempt report proposing the disposal of 
the land Council’s interest in the land known as Clayton Triangle be approved;   
 
The following documents were submitted:- 
 
i) Call-In Form 
ii) Copy of the Cabinet Report (Exempt) dated 6th February 2019, Proposed disposal of 

the Council’s Land known as the Clayton Triangle 
iii) Extract from Minutes of Cabinet dated 6th February 2019 relating to Item 15, 

Proposed disposal of the Council’s Land known as the Clayton Triangle 
 
In accordance with the Call-In Procedure for Cabinet Decisions, the Procedure had been 
activated by members of the Committee (The Chair Councillor Noordad Aziz, Councillors 
Jean Battle and Tim O’Kane). 
 
The undermentioned reason was given for the call-in:- 
 
“To review the process of the Cabinet recommendation of disposal, to make sure this is for 
the benefit of the Borough and best financial value”. 
 
The call-in related to the following:- 
 
What was Cabinet’s recommendation based on and did it include the wider market 
conditions. 
 
The Sponsor spoke on the reasons for the call-in. 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council (Councillor Paul Cox) spoke on the reasons for the 
decision taken by Cabinet. 
 
The Chair invited the Committee to ask questions of the Deputy Leader and responses 
were given to the advanced questions submitted and concerns raised:- 
 
The Sponsor took the opportunity to sum up and the Executive Director for Legal and 
Democratic Services outlined the three options available to the Committee in reaching a 
decision on the call-in.  The Committee discussed and voted on those options. 
 
Resolved - (1) That the Cabinet decision be released in full for 

implementation. 
 
 - (2) That Cabinet noted the concerns of Overview & 

Scrutiny and that Cabinet ensures that the Council’s 
processes for marketing sites for disposal  are designed 
to reach a wide range of potential purchasers and that 
there is Ward Councillor involvement in the sale of 
Council land and property. 

 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

 

REPORT TO: Resouces Overview and Scrutiny 

DATE: 14 March 2019 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Joyce Plummer – Portfolio Holder for Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: ICT Report on outcomes of Previous Scrutiny 
Recommendations (12 October 2016) 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of a the progress made against recommendations noted 12 October 

2016, as listed below (2.1) 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 (1) That Cabinet be requested to ensure that the new website is user friendly for 

customers; 
 

(2) That Cabinet be requested to investigate ways to make the online payment 
system simpler for customers to use; 

 
(3) That Cabinet be requested to work with the Head of ICT to explore the 
possibility of the introduction of an integrated system for the website which 
would require only one simple login from a customer regardless of what service 
they required access to; and, 

 
(4) That Cabinet be requested to ensure the new website and My Hyndburn app 
are compatible with assistive technologies in order to make them more 
accessible to residents who are visually impaired, elderly or those who have low 
literacy skills. 

 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The new version of the website was launched in June 2017 and is based on the 

WordPress platform that relies on internal maintenance. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3.



 

 

 
In reaction to the market, the website is responsive to increase accessibility i.e. the 
display responds to whichever device used. In addition, using WordPress, gives the 
team more input into the design, layout and feel of the site.  
 
The Web Developer is now a member of the Lancashire Web Officer Group, organised 
by Wyre Council and attends regular meetings to disseminate good practice and 
discuss the latest legislation. 
 

 
 

The top pages visited in the last quarter were – 
 

 Council Tax and Benefits  

 Contact Us 

 Waste Services 
 

Customers spend on average 2½ minutes on the website and there are approximately 
48,000 visitors to the site per quarter. These figures have remained static over the last 
12 months however as more events are advertised on the site and mobile usage 
increases, the expectation is an increase in the number of visitors. There are notable 
peaks that coincide with local events, for example, the local Election results. 
 
From an editor point of view, the software is relatively straightforward to use and the 
move to WordPress has afforded service areas the chance to review and in some 
cases completely rewrite their content. 

 
There are currently 27 trained editors as well as the ICT team but only the ICT team 
can make content live on the website. Another advantage of WordPress is that ICT are 
notified when an editor has made amendments to content so making content live is 
quicker than before, and any member of the team has that capability. 

 

48 48 
45 

50 

42 41 
39 

42 42 

52 52 
55 

50 

58 59 
61 

58 58 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Qtr 4
2016

Qtr 1
2017

Qtr 2
2017

Qtr 3
2017

Qtr 4
2017

Qtr 1
2018

Qtr 2
2018

Qtr 3
2018

Qtr 4
2018

Qtr 1
2019

Qtr 2
2019

Qtr 3
2019

Qtr 4
2019

Devices used to access HBC website (%) 

Desktop

Mobile Tech

Page 14



 

 

3.2 Investigations have been made into the replacement of the current online payment 
system.  

  
A rival company has bought the current payment package with a view to replacing the 
product. 

 
To look at viable options, a working party including all stakeholders was convened and 
it was concluded by all stakeholders that the replacement of the PARIS Payments 
system should be considered in a future procurement exercise for the replacement of 
the current Finance/Ledger system, eFinancials, scheduled September 2020. 

 
As the needs of the Accounts service unit will be the major determinant in any future 
solution, it was agreed that Accounts, not ICT Services will lead the project going 
forward.       

  
3.3 Due to the stringent regulations stipulated by the DWP and the Cabinet office, and the 

introduction of the tighter GDPR regulations, the availability of ‘single sign on’ by 
members of the public to access their data online is not currently practicable. 

  
This is only possible if we were to introduce a very tight registration processes for 
access to a system that caters for all services. 
 
The council must protect all personal information under GDPR and to access Council 
Tax, Business Rates and especially Benefits, DWP stipulate a rigorous sign-
up/checking procedure. For access, we currently ask for various criteria to verify 
identity before accessing data: 
 
Name 
Account Reference 
Date of Birth 
NI number 
Amount of last payment 
 
We could effectively request these details when all a citizen requires is a Bulky 
Collection, they may not want or need another service. We could potentially find 
ourselves holding superfluous personal data on a citizen and therefore find ourselves 
contravening GDPR. 

 

3.4 Following the move to a new web platform, the website is now more accessible but 
there are always improvements to be made. Amendments are made on a monthly 
basis following a scheduled audit using a free online tool though the Web Developer is 
keen to collaborate with local interest groups who would be keen to get involved in 
testing. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable. 
 
 

Page 15



 

 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Not applicable 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

It is likely that, if accepted, some of the 
recommendations will have a financial 
implication which, to date, have not been 
costed. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

N/A 

Assessment of risk 
 

N/A 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

An equality impact assessment (Customer 
First Analysis) has been completed and 
submitted to HR (November 2018). 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
12 October 2016 
 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1076&Ver=4 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1  The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972; 
Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 
2000. 

Page 16

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1076&Ver=4


Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

Date of meeting: 14th March 2019 

Report of: Lyndsey Sims 

Title: Chief Executive 

 

SUBJECT  

Hyndburn Leisure Trust update report 

 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

To present to the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee with a financial update for 

Hyndburn, highlighting areas in which the Council have invested capital funding. 

 

RECCOMMENDATIONS 

 Note the Trust’s current financial position and the challenges that have been faced in-
year. 

 Note the income growth & expenditure reduction plans and provide support, guidance 
and challenge to ensure that these areas are maximised during 2019/20. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4.



1. Introduction 

Hyndburn Leisure manages the operation of eight leisure, sport, culture and community 
facilities requiring an operating budget of £2.6 million and a team of over 70 employees.  
Along with other Council services the Trust has been charged with achieving significant 
efficiency savings, resulting in a reduced annual grant from April 2018 of £75k being 
committed for the next three financial years.  This will mean that the management fee, 
which is payable as a subsidy to the Trust by the Council to operate the facilities and provide 
a broad range of affordable services, has reduced to just 3% of the Trust’s overall budget. 
 
The 2018/19 budget included 6.9% of additional expenditure pressures compared to 
2017/18, totalling £174,395.  This includes capital investment into Hyndburn BC’s assets of 
£184k. 
 
In addition to this increase, repayments for capital works carried out to the thermal spa at 
Hyndburn Leisure Centre and Fitness refurbishment at Hyndburn Leisure Centre and Mercer 
Hall Leisure Centre, funded by Hyndburn Leisure Trust total £77k in 2018/19. 
 
The sum of the overall in-year budget pressures in comparison to 2017/18 is £319,395.  
Therefore significant income increases from fees & charges were required in-year. 
 
2. 2018/19 Income performance 
 
Up to period 10 this year, income from fees & charges, trading and external grants (not 
including the HBC Management fee) has grown by £146k (7.4%) compared to 2017/18. 
 
Health and Fitness is currently over performing against profiled budget by £36k.  This 
demonstrates an uplift of £58k (8.3%) against period 10 in 2017/18. 
 
Catering at Adventure City was taken on in September 2018, demonstrating the Trust’s 
commitment to growing revenue and improving service quality.  This service has generated 
income of £49k to date and is currently operating in profit. 
 
Other key income areas including; Wet, Dry, Adventure City, Parties and Town Hall facility 
hire/weddings are underperforming against budget and show little growth or are 
underperforming against 2017/18 actuals. 
 
Lack of service growth in these areas can be attributed to the following: 
 

 The Pool incident in January 2018 at Hyndburn Leisure Centre and the Pool Closure 
at Mercer Hall LC have affected the Trust’s planned growth in Wet income.  In 
particular, the Learn to Swim programme has seen unplanned reduction since 
November, due to the pool closure at Mercer Hall.  Overall wet income is 
underachieving by £50k. 

 Adding Catering provision at Adventure City in September at short notice has led to a 
reduced capacity to drive party bookings and income, resulting in a reduction in 
monthly income in this area from September. 

Page 18



 The unseasonably warm weather during May-August 2018 had a negative impact on 
income at all Leisure Facilities.  Attendance at Adventure City were significantly 
affected during this period, resulting in an underachievement of £25k. 

 Phase 4 Capital development at the Town Hall was originally due to be completed on 
or before 31st March 2018 and these improvements were budgeted to increase 
income at the Town Hall by £80k.   

 
 
3.  Impact of grant reduction and lack of growth in key service areas 
 
The Trust has used cash reserves in-year to absorb the management fee reduction and 

additional unplanned financial pressures.  Based on current projections there are immediate 

cash flow implications for the Trust. 

The Trust is currently producing a strategy to secure Hyndburn Leisure’s medium-term 

sustainability beyond 2019/2020. The Trust has agreed to have an action plan in place over 

the next 3 months identifying the action Hyndburn Leisure must take to ensure its 

sustainability. 

4.  Themes of the strategy 

 

4.1  Capital Development 

Hyndburn’s Leisure Facility estate includes several ageing facilities, which require unknown 

levels of capital development. A Leisure Estate review process has commenced which will 

enable the Council and Trust to understand the long-term cost of maintaining/developing 

these facilities.  Improving the efficiency and the income generating potential of the leisure 

estate is key in the Trust’s journey to becoming financially sustainable and to the Council’s 

ambition to improve resident’s health and wellbeing and to increase Pride in Place.  Over 

the past few years Hyndburn BC has made a number of sound capital investments which 

have supported the Trust to absorb grant reductions including: 

During 2016/17: 

 Reduction in the depth of the Pool at Hyndburn Leisure Centre 

 Installation of a new training pool at Hyndburn Leisure Centre. 

 Refurbishment of the swimming pool, surround and ceiling at Hyndburn Leisure 

Centre  

 Completion of phase 2 and 3 refurbishments of Accrington Town Hall. 

 

During 2017/18: 

 Conversion of 4-court sports hall at Hyndburn Leisure Centre into a Soft Play Centre 

– Adventure City 

 

No capital investment developments have been completed in 2018/19, however planned 

works for Phase 4 at the Town Hall are likely to commence in March/April 2019. 

Page 19



4.2 Organisational Review 

As a service-focused organisation our people are our greatest asset.  This is therefore our 

largest expenditure budget and the 2019/20 budget is set to increase to include pay 

increment increases.   

Changes to NJC pay scales from April 2019 will bring additional financial pressures, as lower 

paid roles see an in-year pay increase of up to 9.19%.  To improve the Trust’s long term 

financial sustainability, work is taking place to make recommendations for the Trust to move 

onto independent pay scales.   

Over the past five years, to absorb savings, management capacity has also been reduced, 

with a number of managers taking on additional responsibility for no additional salary 

grade.   

The Trust will carry out a Job Evaluation (JE) process in 2019 to ensure that roles across the 

organisation are paid at fair levels.  Carrying out this process is also a stipulation of Unison & 

GMB before the Trust can consider moving to independent pay scales. 

Alongside the JE process a number of reviews are being developed to identify a workforce 

make up which is fit for purpose and will support the Trust to become sustainable.  It is felt 

that the majority of reviews, particularly those including new roles will take place following 

JE to remove the need for employees to move onto temporary salary grades. 

Established hours are also being reviewed across all services and recommendations will be 

made to reduce staffing levels as required.  Where possible this will be done by reducing the 

use of variable hour’s employees and when employees resign for positions.   

4.3 Procurement 

The Trust will introduce a contracts register to manage all external procurement 

arrangements.  Notice will be given to all contracts 6 months prior to the contract-end and a 

competitive procurement process will be carried out to ensure that best value is being 

obtained.  Key focus areas for the business in 2019/20 will be: 

 Bar & catering supplies 

 Gas  

 Water 

 Cleaning products & Chemicals 

 IT support 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



4.4 Service/Income Growth Priorities 2019/20 

A business growth working group has been set up to identify growth potential and actions 

required to achieve this in-year across the following service areas.  A marketing & sales plan 

will be established to drive this business growth and managers will be set clear, realistic yet 

challenging targets. 

 Town Hall – Hire, Bar & Events 

 Fitness 

 Learn to Swim 

 Adventure City 

 School Swimming 

 Super Gymnastics 

 Catering 

 Parties 

 

4.5 Fees & Charge review 2019/20 

The Trust carries out a review of fees and charges on an annual basis and presents to its 

Board for approval. In the financial year 2018-19 it was agreed that there would be no 

increases to its fees and charges. Any increases through fees and charges remain within the 

Trust to support its financial strategy. 

The Trust operates a charging policy based on a tiered system of standard charge and 

standard charge with concessionary discount applied on a range of activities and facility 

hire. 

The increase in income from fees and charges have been benchmarked against surrounding 

providers, there are limits to this exercise due to the differences in the offers made but all 

reasonable comparisons have been made. An implementation date of 1st April 2019 has 

been set to allow time for customer notification and preparation within our services.  

The proposals will generate in the region of £20k per annum.  

Proposals have made in consideration of the following: 

 Demand levels 

 Quality assurance 

 Benchmarking and market sensitivity 

 Budget requirements 

 Continuation of concessionary discounts 

 Date of previous price increase 

 

 

 

Page 21



4.6 External Funding & Commissions 

The Trust are leading the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot for Hyndburn.  A pathfinder bid 

for Pennine Lancashire is due to be submitted to Sport England in May 2019 for £3M.  A 

proportion for this grant will be devolved to Hyndburn BC/Hyndburn Leisure to drive test 

and learn projects across the borough alongside the community and partners.   

A further £7M has also been made available by Sport England for the Pennine Partnership to 

apply for Acceleration projects, which scale up projects which are already seen to be 

achieving positive outcomes. 

The Up & Active service is currently working closely with commissioners and health 

providers to introduce new services in readiness to bid for new contracts including; Health 

Checks, Blood pressure and Escape Pain, Musculoskeletal services. 

The Trust will also continue to apply for external grants to enhance the services we offer to 

the local community. 

 

5. Recommendations 

Note the Trust’s current financial position and the challenges that have been faced in-year. 

Note the income growth & expenditure reduction plans and provide support, guidance and 
challenge to ensure that these areas are maximised during 2019/20. 

 

Page 22



Document is Restricted

Page 23

Agenda Item 6.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of Last Meeting(s)
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 04/03/2019 Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes


	3. ICT Report on outcomes of Previous Scrutiny Recommendations (12 October 2016)
	4. Hyndburn Leisure Trust
	6. Land & Asset Disposals

